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GUIDRY J

A state employee with the Louisiana Department of Transportation and

Development DOTD appeals a decision of the State Civil Service Commission

Commission upholding the termination of his employment For the reasons

discussed herein and in the Commission s decision we affirm

FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

In 2006 the appellant Anthony Danna Jr was employed as a Real Estate

Specialist 3 working in the District 61 Real Estate Office on Old Hammond

Highway a satellite office of the DOTD This appeal stems from events that took

place on June 27 2006 prompting an internal investigation by the DOTD As a

result ofthose events and dissatisfaction with the level ofDanna s cooperation with

the subsequent internal investigation Danna was given notice of a

recommendation to terminate his employment with the DOTD for insubordination

by the Appointing Authority
I A pre deprivation hearing was held on August 23

2006 and Danna s employment with the DOTD was terminated effective

September 15 2006

Danna appealed his dismissal to the Commission which affirmed the

decision of the Appointing Authority to terminate his employment based on

insubordination This appeal followed

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

On appeal Danna disputes the decision ofthe Commission in the following

respects

1 The Civil Service Commission committed reversible error in

upholding Appellant s termination on grounds of insubordination
when there was not a sufficient factual basis to find that Appellant
engaged in insubordinate conduct that impaired the efficiency of
the Department of Transportation and Development and bore a real
and substantial relation to the efficient operation of DOTD

Civil Service Rule 14 defines appointing authority as the agency department board
or commission and the officers and employees thereof authorized by statute or by lawfully
delegated authority to make appointments to positions in the State Service
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2 The Civil Service Commission committed reversible error in

upholding Appellant s termination on grounds of insubordination
in finding as a fact that Appellant was insubordinate

3 The Civil Service Commission committed reversible error in

upholding Appellant s termination on grounds of insubordination

by penalizing him for the exercise ofprotected fundamental rights

4 The Civil Service Commission committed reversible error in

upholding Appellant s termination on grounds of insubordination
since the Loudermill process was invalid

5 The Civil Service Commission committed reversible error in

upholding Appellant s termination on grounds of insubordination
since the orders of the appointing authority were unreasonable

under the circumstances and since Appellant had legitimate and
valid reasons for refusing to comply with the orders of the

appointing authority

6 The Civil Service Commission committed reversible error in

upholding Appellant s termination on grounds of insubordination

by finding that James M Dousay possessed authority to issue the
letter of termination to Appellant

7 The Civil Service Commission committed reversible error in

upholding Appellant s termination on grounds of insubordination
since the disciplinary action taken was excessive and too severe

and not commensurate with any alleged offense

8 The Civil Service Commission erred in failing to make an award of

attorney fees

LAW AND DISCUSSION

The final decision of the Commission is subject to review by the court of

appeal on any question of law or fact La Const art 10 S 12 A A reviewing

court should not disturb the factual findings made by the Commission in the

absence of manifest error Williams v Orleans Levee District Board of

Commissioners 00 0297 p 4 La App 1st Cir 3 28 01 784 So 2d 657 659

writ denied 01 1730 La 914 0 l 796 So 2d 686 In evaluating the

Commission s determination as to whether the disciplinary action is both based on

legal cause and commensurate with the infraction the court should not modifY the

Commission s order unless it is arbitrary capricious or characterized by abuse of

discretion McGee v Department of Transportation and Development 99 2628 p
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3 La App 1st Cir 12 22 00 774 So 2d 1280 1282 writ denied 01 0232 La

3 23 01 788 So 2d 432

Generally an abuse of discretion results from a conclusion reached

capriciously or in an arbitrary manner The word arbitrary implies a disregard of

evidence or of the proper weight thereof A conclusion is capricious when there

is no substantial evidence to support it or the conclusion is contrary to

substantiated competent evidence Burst v Board of Commissioners Port of New

Orleans 93 2069 p 5 La App 1st Cir 10794 646 So 2d 955 958 writ not

considered 95 0265 La 3 24 95 651 So 2d 284

When there is a conflict in testimony reasonable evaluations of credibility

and reasonable inferences of fact should not be disturbed on review When there

are two permissible views of evidence the fact finder s choice cannot be manifestly

erroneous Saacks v City of New Orleans 95 2074 p 13 La App 4th Cir

11 27 96 687 So 2d 432 440 writ denied 97 0794 La 5 9 97 693 So 2d 769

cert denied 522 U S 914 118 S Ct 298 139 LEd 2d 230 1997

Having reviewed the entire record in this matter and the thorough and well

reasoned decision of the Commission we find no manifest error in the factual

findings of the Commission Further having reviewed the applicable law and the

evidence presented we do not find merit in any of the assignments of error

presented which alleged errors were duly addressed by the Commission in its

decision Thus we do not find that the Commission abused its discretion in

2 The only assignments of error not addressed in the Commission s decision are Danna s

assertion that he was not provided due process in accordance with Cleveland Board of Education

v Loudermill 470 U S 532 105 S Ct 1487 84 LEd 2d 494 1985 error number four and that

the Commission erred in failing to make an award of attorney fees error number eight

The due process rule pronounced in Loudermill 470 U S at 546 105 S C at 1495 is

that a tenured public employee is entitled to oral or written notice of the charges against him an

explanation ofthe employer s evidence and an opportunity to present his side ofthe story Such

action was taken herein which principle is embodied in Civil Service Rules 12 7 and 12 8 a

Danna was provided an original pre deprivation notice on August 15 2006 wherein it was stated

that based on his actions it was recommended that his employment with the DOTD be

terminated Danna was given an opportunity to respond to the notice at ahearing held on August
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upholding the disciplinary action ofthe Appointing Authority and for the reasons

expressed in the attached decision of the Commission we affirm the decision All

costs ofthis appeal are cast to the appellant Anthony Danna Jr

AFFIRMED

23 2006 Thereafter on August 29 2006 Danna was provided an amended pre deprivation
notice because of his renewed failure to cooperate in the investigative process on August 18

2006 In the amended notice Danna was advised that he was being given an opportunity to

further respond in writing to the original and amended pre deprivation notices by September 6

2006 The amended notice further advised Danna to b e assured that your response will be

thoughtfully considered before a final decision is made on the recommendation of removal

Danna received notice on September 7 2006 of his termination effective 15 2006 Dannas

reliance on Sommer v State Department of Transportation and Development 97 1929 pp 10

12 La App 4th Cir 3 29 00 758 So 2d 923 931 932 writ denied 00 1759 La 10 2700

772 So 2d 122 is misplaced In Sommer the pre deprivation letter gave the employee notice of

her termination effective February 16 in a letter dated February 9 without any opportunity to be

heard As recited above such deficient proceedings did not occur in this case Thus based on

the record in this matter we find no merit in Danna s fourth assignment of error See

Bailey v LSD Health Care Services Division 99 1981 p 5 La App 1st Cir 9 22 00 767 So

2d 946 949

Moreover since we have found that the Commission did not err in upholding Danna s

termination for insubordination we reject Danna s final assignment oferror praying for an award

of attorney fees
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Decision
State of Louisiana
Civil Service Commission

Filed November 29 2007

Docket No 5 16059

Anthony Danna Jr
v

Department of Transportation and Development

Rules 12 2

Topics Dismissal for failing to follow directives of superiors and failing to appearfor and cooperate in an investigation Fifth Amendment rights delegationofappointing authority does not relinquish authority

Appearances

Mark E Falcon representing the Department ofTransportation and DevelopmentRobert T Talley representing Anthony Danna Jr

Statement of the Appeal

Anthony Danna Jr worked for the Department of Transportation and DevelopmentOOTD By letter dated September 7 2006 DOTD dismissed Mr Danna effectiveSeptember 15 2006 OOTD charges Mr Danna with allowing attorney Robert T Talleyin the office contrary to directives and teJling the police officer who had been summonedthat it was okay for Mr Talley to be there DOTD also charges Mr Danna with falllng tocomply with directives to appear for an administrative investigation on July 21 2006 andon July 24 2006 and with refusing to answer questions during the investigation onAugust 18 2006

On October 9 2006 Mr Danna appealed his dismissal He denies the charges andasserts that he had done nothing to warrant dismissal Alternatively he asserts that thepenalty is excessive He asks for reinstatement and back pay

We held pUblic hearings on November 14 2006 December 12 2006 and July 172007 DOTD filed a brief at the conclusion ofthe hearing Mr Danna s post hearing briefwas filed on July 30 2007 Based on the evidence presented and pursuant to Article XSection 12 A of the state constitution we make the following findings and reach thefollowing conclusions
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Findings of Fact

1 Anthony Danna Jr worked for DOTD as a Real Estate Specialist 3 in the RealEstate Division He had fifteen years of state service permanent status and no priordisciplinary record Until January 2006 Mr Danna s ascending chain of command wasJoseph S Recile District 61 Manager Lloyd P Scallan Assistant Real EstateAdministrator James M Dousay Real Estate Division Administrator
2 Mr Danna worked in DOTD s office located at 10495 Old Hammond Highway inBaton Rouge along with Mr Reclle James GIst Vicki Poirrier and Joseph Delpit TheOld Hammond Highway office is sometimes referred to as the District 61 office At onetime it was also called the right of way office

3 By memo dated October 8 2002 Lawrence A Durant DOTD s General Counseladvised Mr Dousay that he had learned that Robert T Taliey a private attorney whorepresented several property owners as weli as several DOTD employees had beenmaking frequent visits to the Old Hammond Highway office Mr Durant stated that itwas improper for DOTO personnei to conduct private business on state property andtime and that it was Improper for OOTD personnel to divulge information regarding stateright of way projects to non DOTD attomeys Mr Durant asked Mr Dousay to adviseMr Redle and his subordinates not to discuss right of way or construction matters withMr Talley or any other private attorney and to refer such inquiries to the Legal SectionMr Dousay talked to Mr Reclle However it is unclear which if any of Mr Durant sconcerns were relayed to Mr Danna and his coworkers

4 In January 2006 Mr Recile retired Charles Hudson Real Estate Specialist 7became Mr Danna s immediate supervisor Mr Hudson did not move to the OldHammond Highway office but remained at DOTD s real estate office located at 8545United Plaza Parkway in Baton Rouge
5 On June 5 2006 Special Agents Terry Apple and Donald Tusa from the AttorneyGeneral s office arrested Mr Recile for malfeasance in connection with activities thattook piace at the Old Hammond Highway office Mr Recile hired Mr Talley to representhim Mr Danna learned about Mr Recile s arrest and Mr Talley s representation of MrRecile

6 The Old Hammond Highway office opens into a lobby The door from the lobby tothe interior offices is locked A visitor cannot gain access to the interior offices unless anemployee lets the visitor In

7 During the afternoon of June 27 2006 Mr Tailey arrived at the Old HammondHighway office Ms Poirrier let him in Mr Tailey asked to see some maps Ms Poirrierlocated the maps which were in an unoccupied office She left Mr Talley in the officeclosed the door and returned to her office

1
Mr Talley had previously worked for DOTD

2
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8 At about 3 30 p m on June 27 2006 Hubert E Graves Real Estate Specialist 6Administrative Manager for the Real Estate Division and Denise Elder Real EstateSpecialist 3 went to the Old Hammond Highway office to return files Ms Poirrier letthem in

9 Ms Poirrier whose work day ends at 3 30 p m went to the office in which MrTalley was sitting and told him she was leaving and if he needed anything Mr Dannawain his office Ms Poirrier then left the office

10 Meanwhile Mr Graves and Ms Elder delivered the files to Mr Danna who wassitting at his desk in his office Mr Graves had seen a white Suburban in the parking lotand was surprised there was a visitor at the office so late He asked Mr Danna who thecar belonged to Mr Danna said It belonged to Mr Talley Mr Graves asked Mr Dannawhat Mr Talley was doing there Mr Danna mentioned Mr Recile although the contextis in dispute From their conversations with Mr Danna Mr Graves and Ms Elderunderstood that Mr Talley was there working on Mr Recile s case Mr Graves left MrDanna s office to look for Mr Talley He located him alone in an office behind a closeddoor looking at maps The office contained computers filing cabinets and a telephoneMr Talley had a large expandable file

11 Mr Graves who is superior to Mr Danna but is not in Mr Danna s direct chain ofcommand went outside and called his supervisor Pam Leon Real Estate Specialist 7Ms Leon located Mr Scallan and put him on speaker phone Mr Scallan directed MrGraves to find out what Mr Tally was doing at the Old Hammond Highway office and todirect him to leave and not return

12 Mr Graves went back to the office where Mr Talley was sitting He asked MrTalley what he was doing Mr Talley explained that he was reviewing the plans for theOld Hammond Highway project because he represente a property owner who had notbeen contacted or compensated when land was expropriated to widen the road MrGraves instructed Mr Talley to direct his inquiries to the Legal Section Mr Graveswalked with Mr Talley to the door and locked it behind him Mr Graves did notspecifically tell Mr Talley not to return Mr Graves believed that Mr Talley should haveinferred this from his Mr Graves demeanor

13 Mr Graves returned to Mr Danna s office obviously upset and shouted at him forletting Mr Talley into the office Mr Graves asked Mr Danna Are you crazy Don tyou know there s a criminal investigation going on and that the evidence is housed inthe files hereMr Graves testified that he told Mr Danna twice Do not allow thatman in this office Mr Danna denied that Mr Graves told him this but admitted that Mr

Mr Graves testified that when he asked Mr Danna whatMr Talley was doing there Mr Danna told himworking on Joey s case Ms Eider testified that when she asked Mr Denna what Mr TaUey was doingthere Mr Danna told her not to worry because Mr Talley was Mr RecUe s friand and attorney and MrTalley said he was 99 sure that Mr RecUe would be exonerated of all charges Mr Danna deniedmaking either of these statements and testified that at some point he told Mr Graves that he had knownMr Talley for many years and that Mr TaUey had represented Mr Reclle In a dIvorce case

3
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Graves told him There s no way Rob Talley should be in this office and we can thavehim coming here any more At some point Mr Danna told Mr Graves and Ms Elderthat Mr Talley had been at the office many times and had received telephone calls andfaxes there

14 Mr Graves and Ms Elder retumed to the real estate office and related the incidentto their supervisors Either Mr Dousay or Mr Scallan told them to call the police to filean incident report Ms Elder called city police nd was told that an officer would meether atthe scene

15 Meanwhile Mr Talley returned to the Old Hammond Highway office Mr Danna lethim in Mr Talley asked if Mr Danna was all right
16 A police officer arrived at5 29 p m Mr Danna and Mr Talley met him at the doorand let him in Mr Danna and Mr Talley told the officer that they did not know why thepollee had been called At about 5 35 p m Mr Graves arrived Mr Danna and MrTalley were in the office Mr Graves called Ms Leon She contacted Mr Dousay whowas en route Mr Dousay arrived Mr Dousay asked Mr Talley what he was doingthere and said You know you don t belong here A heated argument ensued Thepolice officer asked Mr Dousay if he wanted Mr Talley arrested for trespass MrDousay said he did However Mr Dousay had nothing in writing to the effect that MrTalley could not be at the office and Mr Graves admitted that he did not tell Mr Talleyin so many words not to return The police officer directed Mr Talley not to retum to theoffice

17 On June 28 2006 Mr Hudson directed the four employees In the Old HammondHighway office Ms Poirrier Mr Gist Mr Delpit and Mr Danna to gather theirbelongings and relocate to DOTD s real estate office

18 Mr Scallan called Special Agent Apple and told him that Mr Talley had been in theoffice wilhoutauthorlty and that they wanted to know what he was doing who allowedhim in and what security measures were In place Mr Scallan was concerned that MrTalley was interviewing witnesses in connection with Mr Recile s case Mr Scallangave Special Agent Apple the names of the four employees to be interviewed At somepoint Mr Scallan told the four employees that they would be questioned byrepresentatives from the Attorney General s office

19 Special Agents Apple and Tusa arrived at the DOTD real estate office on July 52006 Mr Scallan went to get Mr Danna and told him some men from the AttorneyGenerals office were there to ask him some questions and were waiting for him In MrDousay s office Mr Danna wentto Mr Dousay s office Mr Scallan did not remain
20 Special Agents Apple and Tusa identified themselves Both agents had badgesBoth have arrest powers Mr Tusa carried a weapon and handcuffsMr Danna was not a suspect he was not arrested he was not read his rights he wasnot placed under oath The agents advised Mr Danna that there was an ongoing

4
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criminal investigation into Mr Recile s activities and that if Mr Danna was involved hewould be arrested The agents asked Mr Danna what Mr Talley was doing at thedistrict office who let him in who authorized him to be there who supervised hi3activities what security measures were in place to protect the records and similarquestions The agent3 also asked Mr Danna about his relationship with Mr Recile andthe other criminal defendants At the end of the interview the agents in3tructed MrDanna not to talk to the other interviewees about the interview and gave him otherin3tructions Mr Danna s understanding of the instructions was that he could only talkabout the interview with Mr Scallan Mr Dousay and Mr Durant and that If he talked toanyone else he would be arrested and charged with perjury Mr Danna felt intimidatedby the agents they had shouted at him and one had pounded the table with his handMr Danna was afraid they would arrest him even though he had done nothing wrong
21 Shortly after the interview Mr Danna was seen talking to Ms Poirrier and Mr GistWord got back to Mr Scallan who notified the agents The agents retumed to DOTD onJuly 6 2006 Mr Scallan called Mr Danna into his office He asked Mr Danna if he hadbeen talking to anyone about the interview Mr Danna said he did not recall talking toanyone Mr Scallan then told Mr Danna that the agents were back and wanted to seehim

22 Agents Apple and Tusa Interviewed Mr Danna again They asked him who he hadtalked to and what he had discussed Mr Danna initially denied having talked toanyone The agents again advised Mr Danna that if they found out that he haddiscussed the interview he could be arrested for obstruction of justice Again MrDanna felt intimidated and feared arrest After the interview Mr Danna rememberedthat he had talked briefly to Mr Gist He went back and told this to the agents
23 Johnny Bradberry DOTD Secretary asked Human Resources to investigate WhyDOTD employees were allowing Mr Talley unsupervised access to the office Someonein Human Resources asked Craig Kimball Attomey to conduct the Investigation MrKimball understood that Mr Bradberry had requested the investigation and that hisconcerns were what access Mr Tally had to the office whether he had looked at ortaken records whether he had interviewed any employees whether he was sendingand receiving faxes from the DOTD office how he had marshaled the number of caseshe had against OOTD without listings In the business section or yellow pages of thephone directory how he had gotten the names of potential clients and whether anyappraisal information had been disclosed

24 On July 14 2006 Mr Scallan suspended Mr Danna with pay until further noticeand told him that Human Resources would contact him shortly Mr Danna did not teUMr Scallan that the agents instructions prevented him from talking to HumanResources Mr Gist Ms Poirrier and Mr Delpit were also suspended with pay

Agent Apple testified that he told Mr Danna that he could only talk about the Interview with Mr ScallanMr Dousay Mr Durent Legal and Human Resources and that If he talked to anyone else about theinterview he could be charged with obstruction of justice

5
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25 Mr Kimball asked Mr Scallan to contact the four employees On July 17 2006 MrScallan called Mr Danna at home and ordered him to appear at DOTD s real estateoffice at 9 00 a m on July 21 2006 to answer Human Resources questions MrScallan asked if there was any reason Mr Danna could not be there Mr Danna said hewould be there Again Mr Danna said nothing about the agents instructions preventinghim from talking to Human Resources

26 On July 21 2006 Mr Kimball and Ranzy Montet Human Resources Managerdrove from their office at DOTD Headquarters located at 1201 Capitol Access Road inBaton Rouge to the real estate office for 9 00 a m Mr Scallan was also present MrDanna did not appear At about 10 00 a m Mr Kimball called Mr Danna and ieft amessage on his answering machine At about 11 00 a m Mr Danna called Mr Kimballtold him that the Attorney General s office had given him a hard time that he was notgoing to be subjected to that type of treatment that he would not come in forquestioning and that he had hired Mr Talley as his attorney Mr Danna said nothingabout the agents instructions

27 Mr Kimball called Mr Talley three times on July 21 2006 and left messages forMr Talley to call him Mr Talley did not return the calls

28 By letter dated Jury 21 2006 sent certified mail return receipt requested to twodifferent addresses Mr Kimball advised Mr Talley that the appointirig authority hadordered Mr Danna to appear at 9 00 a m on July 24 2006 at DOTD s real estateoffice for the purposes of answering questions in connection with an internaladministrative investigation that neither the statements given by Mr Danna norevidence derived from them could be used against Mr Danna in any criminalproceeding that by refusing to obey the order Mr Danna could be disciplined forinSUbordination that the penalty could include termination and that Mr Talley couidaccompany Mr Danna to the investigative meeting Mr Kimball asked Mr Talley toadvise his client of the direct order Mr Kimball also called Mr Talley and left word forMr Talley 10 call him Mr Talley did not return the call so Mr Kimball called back andread the letter to Mr Talley over his answering machine The letter addressed to MrTalley at P O Box 46003 Baton Rouge LA 70895 was returned no such numberunable to forward The letter addressed to Mr Talley at 9541 Brookline Avenue BatonRouge LA 70809 was returned unclaimed

29 On July 24 2006 Mr Kimball and Mr Montet again made the trip to the real estateoffice Mr Danna did not appear

30 On July 31 2006 Mr Danna returned to work unaware that his suspension withpay had been extended Mr Scallan advised Mr Danna that he could not come backbecause he had not answered Human Resources questions Mr Scallan told MrDanna that his failure to answer the questions could be considered insubordination andcould result in his termination Mr Danna told Mr Scallan that his attorney had advised

Mr Kimball used the address on tha Bar Association s webslle and the address listed in the residentialsection of the phone book

6
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him not to answer any questions but he would be willing to do so if his attorney couldbe present Again Mr Danna said nothing about the agents instructions or that hecould only talk to Mr Scallan Mr Dousay or Mr Durant

31 By letter dated August 15 2006 Mr Dousay ordered Mr Danna to appear for thepurposes of answering questions in connection with an internal administrativeinvestigation at 9 00 a m on August 18 2006 at DOTD s real estate office The letterstated

This is an internal administrative investigation made only for internaldepartment purposes The statements given by you cannot be used
against you in any criminal investigation or proceeding nor can evidencederived from the statements

The letter advised Mr Danna that his attomey could accompany him and warned himthat refusal to obey the order could result in disciplinary action including terminationMr Scallan handed this leller to Mr Danna who read and signed it on August 15 2006

32 Also by letter dated August 15 2006 Mr Dousay advised Mr Danna that histermination from employment had been recommended for his actions on June 27 2006and his failure to appear for the investigations on July 21 2006 and July 24 2006 MrScallan handed this letter to Mr Danna who signed It on August 15 2006

33 Mr Danna appeared for the August 18 2006 meeting as directed and waived his
allorney s presence Mr Kimball Mr Scallan and Ms Leon were present Mr Dannasaid nothing about the agents instructions nor did he object to Mr Kimballs or Msleon s presence Mr Kimball asked Mr Danna his name address and phone numberwhich questions Mr Danna answered Mr Kimball then read an ADVICE OF RIGHTSAND OBLIGATIONS form to Mr Danna stopping after each paragraph to be sure MrDanna understood it The form stated that the proceeding was an administrativeinvestigation and that the information provided would be used for administrative
purposes only Mr Danna understood this information however he did not believe itbecause he no longer trusted Mr Scallan The form further advised

You are required to cooperatively truthfully completely and unevasivelyanswer all questions posed to you The person s condUcting this
investigation has full authority to doso and is acting on behalf of yourappointing authority Your refusal to cooperate in the invesl1gative
process will be viewed as insubordination for which disciplinary action willbe taken including the possibility of termination from the classified
service

By signing below you acknowledge that you have read and understandthe rights and obligations related to this internal administrative

7
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investigation and your signature acknowledges your intention tocOoperatively and truthfully participate in the investigative process
Mr Danna signed the form Again he said nothing about the agents instructionspreventing him from cooperatively participating in the investigation
34 Whiie Mr Kimball was reviewing the form with Mr Danna he answered questionsconcerning his education Mr Danna is a college graduate Mr Danna then stated

My attorney Mr Talley has instructed me already that by my just showingup here no one can say I m insubordinate by just showing up So I don tthis part about being Insubordinate if I don t cooperate just by my beinghere I m not being insubordinate I don t you know Mr Talley hasalready instructed me about that So I can t be charged withinsubordination if I m here

35 Mr Danna answered questions about when he last worked for DOTD and when hehad last seen Ms Poirrier Ms Poirrier had claimed that she could not participate in theinvestigation because she was ilL Mr Danna told Mr Kimball that he had met with MrTalley Mr Recife Art Lott a consultant Mr Gist and Ms Poirrier to discuss theirsuspensions Mr Kimball asked when the meeting was held In response Mr Dannastated

I don t remember Before I go any further I m gonna just read this to youand let you know how m gonna proceed with this In view of the ongoingcriminal investigation by the Attorney General s Office this has caused meto retain counselor Mr Robert Talley Im invoking my constitutional rightto remain silent Any further aspect of this matter should be reviewed withMr Talley I am available to go back to work at anytimeThat s alii haveto say regarding that

36 This series ofquestions and answers followed

Mr Kimball Regarding that partiCUlar issue

Mr Danna Regarding everything
Mr Kimball Regarding
Mr Danna Everything anything pertaining to this suspension or whathappened at Old Hammond Highway
Mr Kimball You re not going to discuss it

Mr Danna testified that Mr Talley s advice was to answer questions about his work performance or anyprojects he Was working on but that if a question made him uncomfortable he did nol have 10 answer it

8
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Mr Danna I m not gonna discuss it

Mr Kimball Ok

Mr Danna I have the constitutional right not to

37 Mr Kimball asked a series of questions to be certain that Mr Danna had receivedthe pre deprivation lelter understood that Mr Talley could have been present hadwaived Mr Talley s presence and had received Mr Dousay s Augusl15 2006 order
38 This series of questions and answers followed

Mr Kimball Then you understand that this is a direct order Mr Dousayhas issued to you sir

Mr Danna Ok and followed the order by being here

Mr Kimball Ok well it s a little bit more encompassing than that and Jwant you to understand that It orders you to answer questions
Mr Danna Well you can say what you want My attorney has advisedme just by my having showed up here I m not being insubordinateand I m not going any further than that I ll read this to you again if youlike but Im in view of the ongoing criminal investigation that I ve beenadvised of by the Attomey General s Office the two men that alreadyinterrogated me and bullied me intimidated me This has caused me toretain counsel Mr Robert Talley and J m invoking my constitutional rightto remain silent And you cannot make me say anything else regardingthis Any further aspect of this matter should be reviewed with Mr TalleyJ m available to go back to work Thats alii have to say

39 Mr Danna admitted that he knew he was supposed to have given a statement onJuly 21 2006 but answered no other questions concerning the matters set forth in thepre deprivation letter Mr Kimball did not ask Mr Danna what the special agents hadasked him or what he told the special agents At no point during the August 18 2006meeting did Mr Danna mention the agents Instructions
40 DOTD attempted to conduct Mr Danna s pre deprivation meeting on August 222006 Mr Talley would not allow his client to continue with the proceeding becauseDOTO planned to record it Mr Talley wanted the meeting videotaped The meeting wasrescheduled for August 23 2006

41 OOTD held Mr Danna s predeprivation meeting on August 23 2006 Mr Talleytold Mr Kimball that he had been on an extended vacation until August 1 2006 MrTalley also advised Mr Kimball that he had called and left a message with Mr Scallan ssecretary Mr Kimball verified that Mr Talley had called however the message had not

9
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been relayed to Mr Scallan or himself Neither Mr Talley nor Mr Danna mentioned theagents instructions as the reason for Mr Danna s actions

42 Mr Kimball contacted agent Apple to find out if Mr Danna had provided anyinformation that would help Mr Kimball conclude his investigation Mr Apple would notreveal the information he had gathered Mr Kimball was never able to complete theinvestigation

43 DOTD s Policy and Procedure Memorandum No 29 addresses employee conductAmong the disciplinable offenses are faiiure to report for duty when instructed failure tocooperate with or giving false information in authorized investigations andInsubordination or failure to promptly and cooperatively follow direct orders instructionsor directives given by a supervisor

44 DOTD dismissed Mr Danna effective September 15 2006 Between July 14 2006and his dismissal Mr Danna was on suspension with pay pending investigationDOTD paid his full salary with no reduction of his leave balances

45 Mr Delpit cooperated with DOTD s investigation he remains employed with OOTOMs Poirrier and Mr Gist did not cooperate OOTO proposed their dismissals theyretired

Conclu iqns of Law

A Preliminary Matters

DOTO did not discipline Mr Oanna for allowing Mr Talley unsupervised in the officeprior to 3 30 p m on June 27 2006 Therefore the issue here is not whether Mr Talleyhad a right to inspect the records he was looking at or whether he had a right to be inthe Old Hammond Highway atthat time As such reliance on the Public Records Law ismisplaced OOTD disciplined Mr Danna for subsequent insubordinate behavior
In his post hearing brief counsel for Mr Oanna raises for the first time Mr Oousay slack of authority on September 7 2006 to separate Mr Danna in support of thisargument he attaches a copy of a memorandum dated July 14 2006 from Mr DousayThe memorandum reads Effective this date I am officially delegating and designatingLloyd P Scallan as the appointing authority in my absence to officially handle allappointing authority matters for Section 23

The memorandum was not offered into evidence at the hearing Moreover it contradictsMr Danna s testimony acknowledging that Mr Dousay s August 15 2006 order was anorder from his appointing authority Nonetheless we will address the issue Adelegation of power is not a surrender of power The words surrender and delegate
Mr Kimball understood tha Mr Talley had called and merely advised of his represenlalion of MrDanna

1
See ClvU Service Rule 12 10

10
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do not have the same meaning They are not synonymous and there is a wellrecognized legal distinction between them The fomer means to give up to relinquishto yield or resign in favorofanother The latter means entrusting power to another to actfor the good of the one who authorizes him Citations omittedMouledoux v Maestri197 La 526 2 So 2d 11 16 1 941 Thus when an appointing authority delegatesauthority he does not abdicate or relinquish the authority he has He merely authorizessomeone in addition to himself to take action Therefore Mr Danna s argument lacksmerit

B The Merits

In disciplinary cases the burden of proof as to the facts is on the appointing authorityby a preponderance of evidence Wopara v State Employees Group Benefits Program2002 2641 La App 1 Gir 7 2103 859 So 2d 67 DOm carried this burden On June27 2006 Mr Danna violated a directive from a superior Mr Graves not to let MrTalley back Into the office On July 21 2006 Mr Danna violated a directive from hisAssistant Division Administrator Mr Scallan to appear and answer questions OnAugust 18 2006 Mr Danna violated a directive from his Division Administrator MrDousay to answer questions

Failure to follow a superiors directives is insubordination and cause for disciplinaryaction The penalty is often dismissal even for a first offense So long as an order ordirective does not ask the employee to do anything illegal immoral unethical or indereliction of duty the employee must comply Department of Corrections LouisianaState Penitentiary v Cage 418 So 2d 3 5 La App 1 Gir 1982 which upheld thetermination of a corrections sergeant who took it upon herself to interpret the GivilService Rules concluded that a majors order to report to work on election day wasillegal and refused to comply See also Ben v Housing Authority ofNew Orleans 20031664 La App 1 Gir 5 14 04 879 SO 2d 803 807 which upheld the temination of apolice officer for refusing to hand over a radio to his lieutenant as directed and Malonev Department of Corrections Louisiana Training Institute Ball 468 So 2d 839 LaApp 1 Gir 1985 which upheld the temination of a corrections officer who tore up theonly copy of a statement after his superintendent told him he could not keep thestatement in his possession

The obligation to follow superiors directives is not restricted to employees who work inparamilitary agencies and it applies to employees in all levels of the organization Seee g King v Department of Public Safety 236 La 602 108 So 2d 524 526 1959which upheld the dismissal of an administrator who had cabinets repaired contrary tohis agency head s orders Carbonell v Department of Health and Human Resources

From the date on the memorandum It appears that its purpose was to authorize Mr Scallan to suspendthe rour employees pending Investlgalion
La ConsArt X Sec B A10
Mr Danna also failed to comply with his Division Administrator s order to appear and answer questionson July 24 2006 However It Is possible that Mr Danna was unaware of this order because the twoletters to Mr Talley were returned undelivered
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444 So 2d 151 La App 1 Cir 1983 which upheld the termination of an administratorwho took it upon herself to interpret the Civll Service Rules concluded that her DistrictAdministrator s order to go to a different duty station was illegal and refused to follow itand Jones v Dept of Health Human Resources 430 So 2d 1203 La App 1 Glr1983 which upheld the dismissal of a nursing aide who refused to assist with a bumpatient as requested by the RN in charge and refused to deliver lab work stat asordered

More specifically an agency may direct an employee to answer work related questionsand may discipline an employee who refuses to do so Jones v Department of PublicSafety and Corrections 20041766 La App 1 Clr 9 23 2005 923 So 2d 699 whichupheld the termination of a corrections master sergeant accused of sexual harassmentwho refused to comply with a supervisor s instructions to submit to a polygraphexamination Sterling v Department of Public Safety Corrections Louisiana StatePenitentiary 97 1959 97 1960 and 97 1961 La App 1 Cir 9125 98 723 So 2d 448which upheld the twenty day suspension of a corrections sergeant accused of leaveabuse who refused to comply with the investigator s orders to answer questions in aninternal investigation Public Emp Ass n of New Orleans Inc v City of New Orleans404 So 2d 537 La App 4 Cir 1981 which denied injunctive relief to city employeeswho under threat of disciplinary action were required by the Chief AdministrativeOfficer to answer questions about outside employment Creadeur v Department ofPublic Safety Division of State Police 364 So 2d 155 La App 1 Cir 1978 whichupheld the dismissal of a state trooper accused of non criminal activity who refused tocomply with a superior s order to take a polygraph and Lemoine v Department ofPolice 301 So 2d 396 La App 4 Cir 1974 which upheld the suspensions of policeofficers accused of public bribery who refused to comply with an order from the Majorover Internal Affairs to answer questions in an internal investigation
Thus Mr Danna s failure to follow Mr Graves directive his violation of Mr Scallan sdirective to appear for the purpose of answering questions on July 21 2006 and hisviolation of Mr Dousay s direct order to appear for the purpose of answering questionson August 18 2006 constitute cause for disciplinary action The remaining Issues arewhether Mr Danna s actions were Justified and whether the penalty is commensuratewith the offense

As to Mr Graves directive Mr Danna s defense as articulated in the post hearingbrief is two foid he denies that there was a clearly communicated directive and hedisputes Mr Graves authority to give him a directive Mr Danna s own testimonydefeats this argument Mr Danna testified that Mr Graves told him There s no wayRob Talley should be in this office and we can t have him coming here any moreInresponse to Commissioner Cain s questions about why after Mr Graves had shoutedat him he had let Mr Talley back into the office on June 27 2006 Mr Danna testifiedthat he was aware that Mr Graves and others did not want Mr Talley at the office andhe was going to tell Mr Talley so but the police arrived before he could Thus MrDanna understood the directive there was no lack of clarity Mr Danna also understoodthat the directive had come from a superior a manager In his diVision and was to have
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been followed Furthermore Mr Danna knew that Mr Graves had called headquartersand likely knew that the directive originated at the headquarters level In any event anem loyee s obligation is to follow directives of his superiors not just supervisors in hischain of command For these reasons we conclude that Mr Danna s failure to followMr Graves directive was not justified

As to his failure to cooperate in the internal investigation Mr Danna s defense asarticulated in the post hearing brief is as follows Mr Scailan deliberately interjected lawenforcement into the situation law enforcement officers ordered Mr Danna not to talk toanyone other than Mr Scallan Mr Dousay or Mr Durant or he would be arrested andtherefore he could not discuss the pertinent matters with Mr Kimball or Ms Leonwithout violating the officers orders thereby SUbjecting himself to arrest Counselargues On August 18 2006 Mr Danna was not concerned that information developedvia the investigative process wouid be released to law enforcement or prosecutorialauthorities It was rather the fact of the communication which would subject him toarrest and criminal charges

There are several flaws in this argument First even if the agents instructions were asMr Danna understood them they would not excuse Mr Danna from answeringquestions in Mr Scallan s presence Had Mr Danna made them aware of the problemMr Kimbal and Ms Leon could have left the meeting Second eVen if the agentsinstruction were as Mr Danna understood them they had not become applicablebecause Mr Kimball had not asked Mr Danna even one question about his interviewwith the Attorney General s agents before Mr Danna stopped answering questionsThird we do not believe that Mr Danna understood the agents instructions correcUyAgent Apple testified that he included Legal and Human Resources in the list of peopleMr Danna could talk to Mr Danna obviously misunderstood at least part of theinstructions i e that he could be charged with pe ury if he violated the instructionsHe likely misunderstood the substance of the instructions as well

However the major flaw in Mr Danna s argument is that it appears to have beenmanufactured as an after the fact excuse Mr Danna wanted to keep his job If hebelieved there was a legal impediment to his answering questions his interest was bestserved by saying so Several opportunities presented themselves for Mr Danna toexplain his perceived predicament on July 14 2006 when Mr Scalian suspended himand told him that Human Resources would contact him shortly on July 18 2006 whenMr Scallan told him to come in on July 21 2006 to answer Human Resourcesquestions on July 21 2006 when he talked to Mr Kimball about why he did notappear on July 31 2006 when Mr Scalian told him he could not come beck to workuntil he answered Human Resources questions on August 18 2006 at the beginningof the investigative meeting when he saw who was there on August 18 2006 duringthe investigative meeting when he Signed the certificate acknowledging his intention tocooperatively and truthfully participate in the investigative process notwithstanding MrKimball s and Ms Leon s presence on August 18 2006 toward the end of theinvestigative meeting when he explained why he was not going to answer any morequestions on August 22 2006 during the first pre deprivation hearing and on August
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23 2006 during the second pre deprivation hearing Had Mr Danna made DOTDaware of his perceived predicament DOTD could have determined if Mr Danna sunderstanding was correct and could have made appropriate arrangements But the factremains until the day he was dismissed Mr Danna never told DOTD that l1e beliEwedthe agents instructions prevented him from answering questions if anyone other thanMr Scallan Mr Dousay or Mr Durant were presenInstead he gave completelydifferent explanations the Attorney General s office had given him a hard time and hewas not going to be subjected to that type of treatment and he would answer questionsif his attorney could be presenThus Mr Danna s defense is not credible Moreover ifan employee believes there is a legal reason for not following his superiors directiveshe is obligated to timely articulate that reason or face the consequences for his silence
Mr Danna apparently believed that he could appear for the investigative meetingrefuse to answer questions assert Fifth Amendment rights and escape disciplinaryaction However the law is clear that he can noThe Fifth Amendment to the U SConstitution provides No person shall be compelled in any criminal case to be awitness against himselfThere is no such privilege in civil matters When as here anemployee is given the option of answering questions in an internal administraliveinvestigation or being fired the statements the employee gives cannot be used in anysubsequent criminal proceeding Garrity v State of New Jersey 87 S Ct 616 6201967 Evans v DeRidder Municipa Fire and Police Civil Service Board 2001 2466La 4 3 02 815 So 2d 61 Public Emp Ass n of New Orleans nc supra Frey vDepartment of Police 288 So 2d 410 La App 4 Cir 1973 Dieck V Department ofPolice 266 So 2d 500 La App 4 Gir 1972 concurring opinion The employeeacquires a use pius derivative use immunity meaning that neither his statements norinformation derived from them can be used against him in a criminal proceeding stateV De cambre 1997 1447 La App 3 Cir 429 98 710 So 2d 846 The employer cannetrequire the employee to waive this immunity nor can the employer discipline theemployee for refusing to waive this immunity Gardner V Broderick 88 S C 19131968 United Sanitation Mens Association V Commissioner of Sanitation 88 S Ct1917 1968 The employee exercises this privilege by filing a motion to quash theindictment or a motion to suppress evidence if there is any subsequent criminalproceeding The burden will be on the prosecuting authority to prove that the evidence itproposes to use was derived from a legitimate source wholly Independent of thecompelled statements State V Foster 2002 1259 La App 1 Cir 214 03 845 So 2d393 Therefore when ordered to answer work related questions the empioyee cannotescape disciplinary action by asserting rights under the Fifth Amendment as long asthe employee is not required to waive his Garrity immunity This principle applieswhether or not the employer s allegations would constitute a crime See Jones supraSterting supra and Lemoine supra

Here DOTD repeatedly advised Mr Danna that the statements he gave and anyevidence derived from those statements could not be used against him in any criminalproceeding DOTO never asked much less coerced or required Mr Danna to waive

Mr Danna did not even raise Ihls defense In hisappeal
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this immunity Under these circumstances Mr Danna cannot escape disciplinary actionfor his repeated insubordinate conduct

Mr Danna argues that an order to answer questions is subject to an exception ofreasonableness citing Williams v Department of Health and Hospitals Docket No S13895 decided 112 01 In Williams the agency dismissed the employee for failing tosubmit to a polygraph examination The referee agreed that the agency had a legitimatereason for ordering the polygraph an employee claimed that while she was at worksomeone put a foreign substance in her water bottle and the investigation results wereinconclusive However the Referee reversed the dismissal and concluded that theagency was unreasonable because the agency scheduled the examination during atime when the employee was ill under a doctor s care on medication on certifiedFMLA and unable to perform her duties and gave her only three working days notice ofthe examination during which time she had to seek legal advice research agencypolicy and research possible criminal consequence the agency refused to grant theemployee s request to reschedule the examination to a date her attorney was availableand the agency allowed the employee to return to work for a month but neverrescheduled the polygraph examination Similarly in Jackson v Department of Healthand Hospitals Omce for Citizens with Developmental Disabilities 1998 2772 la App 1Cir 2 18 00 752 So2d 357 the agency dismissed the employee for failing to submit toa polygraph examination but the Commission reversed the dismissal Based on a priorexperience the employee was afraid of the effect of the wires on her 2 The Commissionconcluded that considering her past experience the employee was not unreasonable invoicing her initial refusal to take the test and that the agency was unreasonable in nottrying to allay her fears The Court of Appeal affirmed the Commission s decision andlisted the following as mitigating factors 1 Ms Jackson was not accused of abuse orwitnessing abuse 2 the length of time between tile request to take the polygraph testand a follow up by the appointing authority was excessive 3 the appointing authorityfailed to adequately ascertain why she Initially refused to be tested 4 the appointingauthority failed to attempt to allay her fears of the test and 5 the investigation wascompleted without the necessity of her taking the test Id 365

The mitigating factors present in Williams and Jackson do not exist here DOTD twicerescheduled Mr Danna s investigative meeting first because Mr Danna said he hadretained counsel and second because there may have been a notice problem AlthoughOOrD only gave Mr Danna three days notice of the third scheduling Mr Danna hadbeen on notice for over a month that he would be expected to answer HumanResources questions DOTD even allowed Mr Danna to have his attorney presentwhich opportunity Mr Danna waived OOTD repeatedly advised Mr Danna that he hadto answer the questions or face disciplinary action including termination but that hisanswers and any evidence derived from them could not be used in any criminalproceeding DOTD addressed each of Mr Danna s articulated reasons for notanswering the questions DOTD was never able to complete the investigation

2
The employee had previously been hooked up to wires and a machine and had suffered amiscarriage
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OOTO had a legitimate concern about Mr Talley s apparent longstanding unrestrictedaccess to the office DOTD had a legitimate concern about why Mr Danna let Mr Talleyback into the office two hours after being told we can t have him coming here anymore OOTO had a legitimate concern about whether its records had beencompromised or Inappropriately shared with Mr Talley or Mr Recile OOTD was wellwithin its authority and was not unreasonable in ordering Mr Danna to answerquestions There are no mitigating factors justifying Mr Danna s refusal to obey MrScallan s directives to appear for purposes of answering questions on July 21 2006and Mr Dousay s direct order to appear for the pUrpose of answering questions onAugust 18 2006

Mr Danna s final argument is that dismissal is an excessive penalty We recognize thatMr Danna had fifteen years of state service with no prior disciplinary record HoweverMr Danna s insubordinate behavior was not a single event It was deliberateintentional and protracted Mr Kimball and Mr Montet made two wasted trips to thereal estate office Mr Kimball spent a significant amount of time attempting to contactMr Danna s counsel It took DOTD nearly a month just 10 get Mr Danna to appear atthe real estate office as directed and then he refused to cooperate with theInvestigation All this time DOTD was paying Mr Danna s salary His dismissal waswarranted we deny this appeal

sf Jamls it S Iith
James A Smith Chairman

s1Burl Cain
Burl Cain Vice Chairman

sHosa B Jackson

Rosa B Jackson Member

s Chlth lm IJ ed
Chatham H Reed Member

16

36


